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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

KEN JACOBS and TIMOTHY

WILLIAMS CIVIL ACTION
Plaintiff s,
V.
NO. 14-5797

DELAWARE COUNTY DETECTIVE M.
PALMER, DETECTIVE WORRILOW,
UNKNOWN DELAWARE COUNTY
POLICE OFFICERS, THE COUNTY OF
DELAWARE, POLICE
COMMISSIONER JOSEPH BAIL,
CAPTAIN C. FELL, UNKNOWN CITY
OF CHESTER POLICE OFFICERS, and
THE CITY OF CHESTER,

Defendans.

MEMORANDUM RE: DEFENDANTS ' MOTION STO DISMISS

Baylson, J. March 10, 2015

Introduction

This federacivil rights action arises from an encounter betwkintiffs, Ken Jacobs
and Timothy Williams, antivo Defendarg, Delaware County Detective M. Palmeand his
unidentified partnerRlaintiffs allege thatluring this encountd?almer and hipartnerviolated
their federal civil rights by using egssive forceandfalsely detaimg them,and committed the
state law torts ossaultbattely, and intentional infliction of emotional distress. They further
allege that Defendant the County of Delaweaiased the violations of their civil rights by failing
to properly train, supervise, and discipline Palmer and his partner. Finally, inethaath of

this encouter, Plaintiffsallege that Palmehis partnerDelaware County Detective Worrilow,
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Chester Police Commissioner Joseph Bail, Chester Police Captain C. Fell, and unkyayn C
Chesterpolice officers conspired to obstruct the investigation and prosecution of Padmer’'s
his partner’s actions.

Defendants have filed two overlapping partial motions to dismiss. One motion, filed by
the County of Delaware, Palmer, and Worrilow, seekssimids the conspiracy claim and the
Monell claim alleging that the County is responsible for Palmer’s and his paratieged
conduct. The second motion, filed by the City of Chester, Bail, andsEeks to dismiss the
conspiracy clainand any claimsgainst the City, which is not named in any of the five counts of
the complaint. For the reasons set out below, both motions will be granted and Counts Two and

Five of Plaintiffs’ complaint will be dismissed without prejudice and with leaxantend.

I. Factual Allegations

Plaintiffs allege that on October 13, 2012, between 3:00 and 4:00 pm, they were watching
people ride motorcycles at Crozer ParlChester, Pennsylvania. Compl. § 11 (ECF 1). A fast-
moving pick-up truck drove toward them and, as it entered the parking lot, Defendaet Palm
discharged a firearm repeatedly from a window of the triac{[f12-13.Palmer and an
unidentified Delaware Coupbfficer then exited the trucknd ordered Plaintiffs to get down on
the groundvhile repeatedlghouting racial epithetid.  14. Palmer and the unidentified officer
smelled of alcohol and one of them discharged two more shots from a fitdafimi4.

Palmer and the unidentified officer then questioned Plaintiffs about “stolen four
wheelers,” whie continuing to use racial epithets and profanity and while pointing firedrms a
Plaintiffs. 1d. 11 14-15Plaintiffs toldPalmer and the other officer that they did not own dirt
bikes or four wheelers and asked Palmer to call Jacobs’ aunt, whocongeral inthe Chester

Police Departmentd. T 15-16. Palmer responded with threats, profanity, and racial eplthets.



Fearing for his life, Jacobs got up atadd Palmer he was going to call his audt.{ 17. Palmer
told Plaintiffs to “get the-f- out of here” and threatened them ag&in 18. Palmer refused to
give Plaintiffs his name and then he and the unidentified officer got back in thericuble@an
to drive awayld. 1 19.

At that point, Chester police officers arrived and chaseditkeyp truck.ld. Jacobs also
calledhis aunt, who dispatched Chester police officers to the skker@@ne of the responding
Chester officers was Captain Fell, who arrived at the scene and interviewest. RalfH20.
Approximately two days later, Delaware County Detective Worrilow itgred Plaintiff
Jacobs at his homl. § 21.Shortly thereafter, Chester Poli€C@mmissioneBail was informed

of the incident by Captain Fell and Detective Worrildav. 22.

II'l.  Procedural History

Plaintiffs filed afive-count complaint on October 10, 2014. ContRICF 1). The first
count alleges that Palmer and his unidentified partner violated 42 U.S.C. § 1988dy
excessive force and falsely detaining Plaintiifis § 23-27. The second coustaMonell claim
against the County of Deware, alleging thahe Countyviolated section 1983 arwhused
Plaintiffs’ civil rightsto be violatedy failing to properly train, disciplineand supervise Palmer
and his unidentified partndd. 1128-31. The third countlagesthat Palmer and his
unidentified partner committed assault and batteryff 32-33. The fourth count alleges that
Palmer and his unidentified partner intentionailjicted emotional distresdd. 1 3432 [sic].*

Finally, the fifth count alleges that Palmer, his unidentified partner, Worrileilly,&nd Bail

! The mragraphs in Count Foaremisnumberedas paragraph34 and 32, such that the
complaint has two paragraphs labeled “32” (in Counts Three and Four), twoapdrstabeled
“33” (in Counts ThreandFive) and two paragraphs labeled “34” (in Counts Fourkand).
Assuming Plantiffs file an Amended Complaint, these errors should be corrected.



conspired to obstruct the investigation and prosecution of Palmer and his unidentified, part
violation of section 1983 and unspecified Pennsylvania statddafif 33-35.

Cheger Police Commissioner Bail, Chester Police Captain Fell, and the City okeChest
(collectively “Chester Defendantsifloved to dismiss all claims against them on November 10,
2014 (ECF 9). Plaintiffs filed their opposition on December 9, 2014 (ECF 1iwBe County
Detectives Palmer and Worrilow and the County of Delaw@lectively “Delaware County
Defendants”ymoved to dismiss Counts Two and Five on November 18, 2014 (ECF 12).

Plaintiffs filed their opposition on December 5, 2014 (ECF 13).

V. The Parties’ Contentions

The Chester DefendantsntendthatPlaintiffs do not lave a constitutional right to the
investigation or prosecution of another, nor to an accurate police repedter Defs.’ Br. at-9
(ECF 9).As a result, the Chester Defendants argueRlzntiffs did notsuffer any
constitutional violation as a result of Fell’s or Bailllleged actions and therefore, Plaintiffs have
no renedy against Bail or Fell undeection 1983Id. Alternatively and aditionally, the Chester
Defendants argue that Plaintiffs have failed to plead the existen@eofian 1983 conspiracy to
cover up Detective Palmer’s alleged actions becthesehave not alleged any facts allowing an
inference of combination, agreementunderstandindd. at 3-11. Finally, the Chester
Defendants argue that Plaintiffs’ complaint does not name the City of €hreatey of its counts
and, even if the complaint is intended to allege a Man&iin againsthe City, there are no
allegations that the Plaintiffs suffered any constitutional violations as a réayiticy or

custom of the City of Chestdd. at 1112.



In response, Plaintiffeffer little more than a restatement of #ikegations in the
complaint. Plfs.” Opp. to ChestBrefs. (ECF 14¥ They make no rebuttal to the Chester
Defendants’ argument that Plaintiffs did not suffer any constitutional \oolai$ a result of the
actions of Fell or Bajland do not address the City of Chester’s argunaraB. Id. Without
citing any case law, Plaintiffs argue that they have adequately alleged that Fell land Bai
conspired to obstruct the investigation and prosecution of Palmer’s and his pattiensid.
at 8.Plaintiffs’ oppositionrelies onan outdated standard of revievatignores the past seven
years ofcase law interpreting federal pleading requireméaikswing the United States Supreme

Court’s decisions in Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544 (2007)_and Ashcroft v. Igbal,

556 U.S. 662 (2009)d. at 7.

TheDelaware County Defendant®ntend that Counftwo fails to state @Monell claim
against the County because Plaintiffs have not adequately identified the Coustgis or
policy that caused Palmer’s and his partner’s alleged actions. Del. Cnty. Bre&t.5-10.
Furthermore, the Delaware County Defendants argue that Plairtfésriot identified the
decision maker responsible for any such custom or policy and do not allege any atifier spe
instances of similaconstitutional violationshat would showhe County’s deliberate
indifference tahe officers’ inadequate trainingl. Similar to the Chester Defendants, the
Delaware County Dfendants also argue that Count Fa#s to state a claim because Plaintiffs
have no constitutional right to hagegminal charges filed against Palmer and the factual
allegations are insufficient to show a conspiracy to violate Plaintiffs’ civitgidgh at 1113.

In response, Plaintiffs again rely primarily on factual allegations from¢beplaint and

a preTwombly standard of review. PIs.” Opp. to Del. Cnty. Defs. (ECF 13). They conteind tha

2 Plaintiffs’ filings are all unpaginatedhe page numbers cited throughout this memorarfdum
Plaintiffs’ filings refer to the page numbers assigned by the ECF system.
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the Monell claim against the County of Delaware should not be dismissed béoayse
adequately alleged that Palmer’s and his partner’s conduct resulted frorayaop@iustom of
the Countyld. at 811. Plaintiffs also argue, without legal citatidhat the facts in their

complaint adequately allege a conspiracgéprive them of their civil rightdd. at 11:12.

V. Standard of Review

The Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiff's federal claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331,
and the civil rights claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1343(a)(3). The Court also has sufglemen
jurisdiction over Plaintiffs statdaw claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8 1367(a). Venue is proper in
this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391®))

When deciding a motion to dismiss under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6), the
Court may look only to the facts alleged in the complaint and its attachrderdan v. Fox,

Rothschild, OBrien & Franke] 20 F.3d 1250, 1261 (3d Cir. 1994). Theu@t must accept as

true all wellpleaded allegations in the complaint and view them in the light most favorable to the

plaintiff. Angelastro v. PrudentiaBache Sec., Inc764 F.2d 939, 944 (3d Cir. 1985).

A valid complaint requires only “a short and plain statement of the claim showing that
the pleader is entitled to relief.” Fel. Civ. P. 8(a)(2). “To survive a motion to dismiss, a
complaint must contain sufficient factual mati@ccepted as true, to ‘state a claim to relief that is

plausible on its face.’Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). Iqgbialrified that the

Court’s decision in Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544 (2007) “expounded the

pleading standard for ‘all civil actions.” 556 U.S. at 684.
The Court inigbal explained that, although a court must accept as true all of the factual
allegations contained in a complaint, that requirement does not apply to legal conclusions;

therefore, pleadings must inde factual allegations to support the legal claims assédlted.



678, 684. “Threadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action, supported by mere
conclusory statements, do not suffickl”at 678 (citing Twombly, 550 U.S. at 558ge also

Phillips v. County of Allegheny, 515 F.3d 224, 232 (3d Cir. 2008) (“We caution that without

some factual allegation in the complaint, a claimant cannot satisfy the requirenéet dhzhe
provide not only ‘fair notice,’” but also the ‘grounds’ on which trerolrests.” (citingflwombly,
550 U .S. at 556 n. 3)). Accordingly, to survive a motion to dismiss, a plaintiff must plead
“factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that theadeferidble

for the misconduct alleged.” Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (citing Twombly, 550 U.S. at 556).

VI.  Analysis

A. There Are No Claims Against the City of Chester

Plaintiffs have not disputed the fact that treeimplaint does not assert acigims
against the City of Chester. The complaint is also devoahpfactualalegationsthat a policy
or custom of the City of Chester affected the actiorangfofthe individual defendants.
Thereforethe City of Chester will be dismissed a party, with prejudice.

B. Count TwoAlleging Monell Liability Against he County of Delawar@/ill Be
Dismissed Without Prejudice

CountTwo of Plaintiffs’ complaint attempts to allege that the County of Delaware
violated section 1983 through a policy or custom of failing to properly train, supervise, and
discipline Palmer and his unidentified partner. Compl. 1Y 2&81ith all of Plaintiffs’ claims,
this claim “requires a showingather than a blanket asgen, of entitlement to relief that rises

above the speculative leveMcTernan v. City of York, 564 F.3d 636, 658 (3d Cir. 2009)

(internal quotation marks omitted)o evaluate whether Plaintiffs have met this\d&dthe

Third Circuit has instructed that



First, the court must takeote of the elements a plaintiff must plead to state a

claim. Second, the court shilal identify allegations thahecause they are no more
than conclusions, are not entitled to the assumption of truth. Finally, where there
are wellpleaded factual allegations, a court should assume their veracity and then
determine whether 8@y plausibly give rise to an entitlement for relief.

Santiago v. Warminster Twp., 629 F.3d 121, 130 (3d Cir. 2@lia}ions, alteratiorfootnote,

and internal quotation marks omitted). The court must “also disregard ‘nakedoasseevoid
of further factual enhancemérand ‘threadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action,
supported by mere conclusory statements.”at 131 (quotindgbal, 556 U.S. at 678].

A municipality may not be held liable undsection1983 based solely on the conduct of

its employeesSeeMonell v. Dep’t of Soc. Servs. of N.Y., 436 U.S. 658, 691 (19r8)ead

“[w]hen a suit against a municipality is based on § 1983, the municipality can onablee li
when the alleged constitutional transgression implements or executes a pglitgtion, or
decision officially adopted by the governing body or informally adopted bprusMcTernan
564 F.3dat657 (dteration in original) (internal quotation marémitted). “To satisfy the

pleadng standard, [a plaintiffl must identify a custom or policy, and specify whatlgxhat
custom or policy was.Id. at 658.If a plaintiff alleges that her she was harmed by a custom, as
opposed to a formally enacted policy, “[clustom requires prokhofvledge and acquiescence
by the decisionmaker|d. Failure ‘to allege conduct by a municipal decisionmaker” is “fatal”
aMonell claim. Id.; Santiagp 629 F.3cat 135 & n.11 (noting thaa plaintiff has‘the obligation

to plead in some fashion that [the decision maker] had final policy making autlasrttyat is a

% In their argiment that Count Two should not be dismisaed in their statements of the
standard of reviewPlaintiffsunhelpfullycite only to cases that poatethe Supreme Court’s
decisiors in Twomblyandlgbal. PIs! Opp. to Del. CntyDefs. at 711 (ECF 13)PIs Opp. to
Chester Defs. at 7 (ECF 1his inadequate and incorrdmiefing must not be repeated in this
court. Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. Ruléd(2) & (c)(3), Plaintiffs’ counsel will be ordered to
show cause within 14 days why sanctions in the fofrattorney’s fees andosts should not be
awarded to Bfendants due to Plaintiff&ilure to citeto anycurrent, post-Twombly
precedential case law.




key element of dMonell claim”). In addition,a plaintiff must establish causation by properly
pleading that the municipality’s policy or custom “was the source of [his orhjugy’
Santiagg 629 F.3d at 135.

If the policy at issue “concerns a failure to train or supervise municipal gegdp
liability under section 1983 requires a showing that the failure amounts to dedibedifference
to the rights of persons with whom thosepdoyees will come into contactThomas v.

Cumberland Cnty., 749 F.3d 217, 222 (3d Cir.2014) (internal quotation marks omitted).

“Ordinarily, ‘[a] pattern of similar constitutional violations by untrairesdployeesis necessary
‘to demonstrate deliberate indifference for purposes of failure to traithGwayh liability may
be based on a single incident if the need for training is sufficiently obJcuet.223 (alteration

in original) (quoting Connick v. Thompson, 131 S.Ct. 1350, 1360 (2011)).

Plaintiffs’ only allegations regarding the County of Delaware are set out in paragraphs 29
to 31 of their complaint:

29.Defendant, County of Delaware and its police department, as a matter of
policy and practice failed to digpline, train, supervise or otherwise sanction
police officers M. Palmer and Unknown CID Officer who have violated the
rights of citizens, including the plaintiffs’, thus encouraging defendants
Officer Palmer and Unknown CID officer in this case to engage in the
unlawful and actionable conduct described above.

30. Defendants, County of Delaware, and its police department as a further matter
of policy and practice failed to train properly its police officers Palmdr a
Unknown CID Officer, with respect to the constitutional, statutory and
departmental limits of themuthority.

31.The defendant, County of Delaware and its Police Department were on actual
notice of a need to train, supervise, discipline or terminate defendant officers
Palmer and other unknown CID officer, prior to the incident in question, as
other simiar incidents have occurred in the past involving defendant Officer
Palmer and Unknown CID officer.

Compl. 11 29-31.
Thes allegations are insufficient to state a claim uidienell because they consist of

nothing more than legal conclusions, “nakedertions devoid of factual enhanceniearig
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“threadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of dcBamtiagp 629 F.3d at 130-3(nternal
guotation marks omitted). Plaintiffs have specifiedwhat exactly that custom or policy was
that allegedt caused their injuries ntvave theydentified the redvant municipal decision
maker responsible for that polidicTernan 564 F.3dat658.To the extent Plaintiffs rely on a
failure to train theory, they have not alleged facts that shtpattern of smilar constitutional
violations by untrained employee$Thomas, 749 F.3d at 223.

The Third Circuitrecentlyconsideredh complaint with similarly conclusory allegations
andaffirmed dismissal o Monell claim becauséhe claimmerely “stated the elements of the
cause of actiofiwhich did not meethepleading requirementsf Rule 8 of the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure. Wood v. Williams, 568 F. App’x 100, 104 (3d Cir. 26G14)Wood, as here,

* In their brief, Plaintiffs argue that they have alleged “prior civil lawsuitsriral affairs
compaints, and complaints from the general community.” Pls.” Opp. to Del. Oefg.at 9

(ECF 13). However, their complaint does not contain any such factual allegations. Eseitlos
comes is thallegation hat “other similar incidents have occurred in the past involving
defendant Officer Palmer and Unknown CID officer.” Compl. § 31. &lesgtion is patently
speculativewith respect to the unknown officdt is alsoa conclusory statement of one of the
elements of the cause of action that is devoid of factual enhancements that wouldpaste it
“the line betweengssibility and plausibility of entitlememd relief.” Twombly, 550 U.Sat557
(internal quotation marks and alteration omittédjithermoreit does not establish that any such
prior incidents were sufficiently similar to put the County on notice thaifgp&aining was
needed to avoithe constitutional violationgt issue here&seeConnick v. Thompson, 131 S.Ct.
1350, 1360 (2011) (notindpat prior dissimilaBradyviolations did not put a county prosecutor
on notice of a need for trainivgth respect to the particul@radyviolation at issup

® For example, the allegations in Wood stated that the defendant, a public schédévedabed
and maintained policies or customs exhibiting deliberate indifference to tistitGbonal rights
of [its] employees, which caused the violatiorj@éintiff’'s] constitutional right$ “had a policy
and/or custom . . . to inadequately screen during the hiring process and to inadeguately tr
retrain and/or supervigas] employees . .thereby failing to adequately discourage
Constitutional violations on the partfats] employees and ‘{a]s a result of the abowescribed
policies and customs and/or failure to adopt necessary and appropriate policidsf sisine
employees ... believed that their actions would not be properly monitored by supervisory
officials, and the Constitutional violations of the rights of individuals such dghe. plaintiff]
would not be investigated or sanctioned, but, rather, would be tolerated.” 568 F. App’x at 103-04
(internal quotation marks omitted).

10



the complaintvas alsaeficient inalleginga claim for failure to train or supervise because it
“did not allege facts showing any particular or specific policy or custom, ortrediewed the
claimed constitutional violation to occur, identifying the policymaker or decisatemor
showing priomotice through a pattern of similar constitutional violatidig. at 105.

For all of these reasons, the allegations in Cowd are inadequatt® state a claim
against the County of Delawardowever becausélaintiffs may be able taddsufficientfacts
to state a clailnCount Two will be dismissed without prejudice and with leave to amend.

C. Count Five Alleging Conspiracy to Violate Plaintiffs’ Civil Rights \ABlé
Dismissed Without Prejudice

Count Five alleges that, in violation of section 1988fendants PalmeWorrilow, Fell,
Bail, and other unknown officers “conspired to obstruct the investigationlamte
prosecution” of Palmer’s and his partner’s actions, and “deliberately ignoregiteébthe
numerous witness statements made on the day of the incident.” Compl. § 34-35. This Count wil
bedismissedecause Plaintiffs havetidentified anyfederally protected right that was
infringed by the alleged conspisac
As the Court has previously articulat@danother casé|[t] o state a conspiracy claim

under section 1983, a plaintiff must show that ‘persons acting under color of state |piwecbns

to deprive him of a federally protected right.”” Cooper v. Citbtester 11-cv-5381, 2011 WL

6046934, at *7 (E.D. Pa. Dec. 5, 2011) (quoftagno v. Twp. of Tilden, 423 Fed App’x 234,

239(3d Cir.2011)). However, the Third Circuit has repeatedly concluded that “there is no

constitutional right to the investigatiam prosecution of anothé&rSanders v. Downs, 420 F.

App'x 175, 180 (3d Cir. 2011 Capogrosso v. The Supreme Court of New Jersey, 588 F.3d 180,

184 (3d Cir. 2009§“[1] ndividual citizens do not have a constitutional right to the prosecution of

alleged criminals); Graw v. Fantasky, 68 F. App’x 378, 383 (3d Cir. 2008\ allegation of

11



a failure to investigate, without another recognizable constitutional righdt sufficient to
sustain a section 1983 clainfifternal quotation marks omittegdsimilarly, “the mere existence

of an allegedly incorrect police report fails to implicate constitutional righisrrett v. Twp. Of

Bensalem312 F. App’x 505, 507 (3d Cir. 2009). Plaintiffs have not pointed to anylaade

the contraryand, in fact, did not dispute Defendants’ arguments on this issue at all. Thus, Count

Five will be dismissed for failure to identify adgprivation of a federally protected right.
Defendants alsargue that Plaintiffs have failed teeet their burden to allege ecsion

1983 conspiracyChester Defs.’ Brat9-11; Del. Cnty. Defs.’ Br. at 12-18 patrticular,

Defendants argue that Plaintiffs have failed to meet the pleading requiretisentssedn

various cases including this Court’s decision in Cooper, 2011 WL 6046934Having already

concluded that Count Five must be dismissed, the Court neeglacbthat argument at this
time.

Lastly, Plaintiffs Complaint andheir Opposition to the Chester Defendants’ motion both
suggest that Count Five meant to allege a claim under Pennsylvania state law. CAfrg-
35; PIs.” Opp. to Chester Defst. 8(ECF 14). HoweveRlaintiffs have not identifiedry state
law that establishesrayht that vasinfringed by thealleged conspiracy or any state ldwat
establishes a reaaly for the infringement dhatstateprotectedight. Section 1983 provides a
remedyonly for violations of federally protected rights, not for violationstate law rights
Cooper, 2011 WL 604693k *7. To the extent it was intended to assert a claim under state law,

Count Five does not.

®“[A] bad police investigation is actionable under section 1983 only if itséswa deprivation
of some right."Martin v. City of ReadingNo. 12¢€v-03665, 2013 WL 5429358, at *8-9 (E.D.
Pa. Sept. 30, 2013h@lding that the plaintiff stated a claibecause aallegedly false police
report caused the plaintgfarrest angbrosecutiolp Here,Plaintiffs have not allegd that they
suffered anyharm, such as arrest or prosecution, as a result of the alleged conspirasifyto fal
police reports and witness statements.
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For all of these reasons, Count Five fails to state a claifact, Plaintiffs’ complaint
and memoranda of lalhave notyetidentifiedany legal authority to support their contention that
Count Five states a viable claim under federal or state law. Nevertlielegnssible that
Plaintiffs can state a claim by identifying a federally protected right thainfrasged by the
alleged onspiracy or by identifying iable legal theory based on state |&wunt Five will
therefore be dismissed without prejudice and with leave to amend. Howdaintfffs file an
amended complaint that includes the claims in Count Five, Plaintiffspteast that these claims
“are warranted by existing law or by a nonfrivolous argument for extendiodjfyimg, or

reversing existing law or for establishing new!” Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(b)(2).

VIIl. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, Counts Two and Five of Plaintiff's ComgE@f 1)will be
dismissed without prejudice and with leave to amend. The City of Chalitbe dismisseds a

party. An appropriate afer follows.
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